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A IDENTITY OF PETITINER

REYCEL PFREZ-mARTINEZ the Appellant | Pro Se, asks +his
Honorable Court o accept review of the decision as designated ja
pack B oF Hhis Mohon.

R. DECTISTon

Appe“«nf’ SeeKs review of e 'UMPUBLISHE‘D OPI’AJTOM:' of the
Court oF Appeals, Division I[\ which was $iled on Hhe 4* da‘{ of March,
2014, 5(1 Ac‘hr\c,Ck}e“ jvdge jokm_ron‘ Iudﬁg Ejorc_’en and Judge Maxa,
where The Court rejedeo\ the hppe\\aw\"s direct appe=\ clatms \
dec\ine& o ceach HQ merids on '}N. Appe\\qr\H( Per.fonu‘ restruint
Pe\“&on claims | and afbirmed the APPQ\\WVVS Convickion.

C.ISSUES PRESENTED FoR REVTFL)

TSSUE ONE: THE TRIAL CouRT ERRED ADD ABUSED ITS
DISCRETTIo TN DENYTNG APPELLANTS MOTTon TO APPOTHTMENT
OF NEW COuRNSEL FoR HIs DFFENSE.

TSSUE Two: THE STATE CommMITTED MTSCONDUCT AND
DENTED APPELLANT A FATR TRTAL WHEX DURTN G THE
STATES CLOSTNG ARGUMENTS :

|. the Stale presentel argumen{” that Jhere was no
ew‘c)en& of' se}C 'defef)se )

2. the Stale PPCSG«MJ arqurmn‘ thot missialed the
low an self-defexe ,

A the Stale shifted the burden of proof in F23am’$

to the ﬂppo\\mﬁ claim of self~defense.

MOTToN FOR DTS cRET DN ARY
REVIEW



D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A beiet Summary of he "STATEMENT OF THE CASE,"
Com be found 1 Pre "BRIEF OF APPELLANT ' 4} pones 2-9,
E. ARCUMENT WHY REVTEW SHoutd BE ACCEPTED
To jushﬁz Teview | a Court of Appesls {(CoA) decision
musk be 11 conflichk with a Supreme Couet decision, RAP
13.4(D ) | ancther COA, (5X2), present a siﬂnfﬁmnf
iue.s*ion of Jaw uader a ComHJuHon,(E)(S) jof Javolve an
)sSua of substantial public jnlerest, (6)(4Q),
ISSUE oNE: THE TRIAL CourT ERRED AND ABUSED ITS
DISCRET TN TN DENYING APPELLANTS MoTIoN To APPOTNTMENT
OF NEW CouNSEL FoR BIs DEFEASFE.

The APFIIQJ argues that his Sixth and Fourkeeath Ameadment
rig)ﬁsk the United States Constitution and article I 8 3,21,
22,and 30 rights do the Washington Conshilution were viclated
when Yhe Teial Court denicd Hhe  Appellants “MoT zon FoR
NEw CounSEL,” ( herealler MOTTON), withont Y eci[ic;.!h.‘
add reSR)‘ng +he SPec’u‘ic Complm‘a*'s as addeessed 1n T
NOT Ton o} pages 3-4. Thal sine the Triad Coued $ai)ed
+o SPec'\CSCa\L' adaress al) of the 10 "Shalement of
T ssues ,“ that the Triol Couet ecred and abused H’S
disc rebion ¥ denying e APPQ\\anPs MOTTIoN wibhout
a fu\\ and Foir \'sear‘ms \:)Q\\M} Conduched 0n the
Tecord.

MOT Jon) FoR DISCRETIaVARY
REvIEW



To supped his argument the Appellant preseats that Srom the
Kt thot David S. Kurt?, was assigned as ﬁppe"mh‘ Courf apfamu
aterney Chereafler deterre counsel) on 8/4/1) o 1281 when the
Rppelkint submitled the MoTIon thot the defense counse had only
seen Bppellant on 3 do Y occasions, hat although he Appellint
hed reguested any discovery and other evidence in f\eyaml; o the
case thet He defente counsel hadat been in recejpt ofF any of
tre discovery From Hhe State , (suchas redactes police reports, any
Yrunscribed AN colls, witness shdements, any medica) records in
regacds to the alleged viehim | any vidao evid ence, and any Crime
(PAS reeor*:), and thed oF He sreakj} Coxern o Apfe"t?m} was thet
the defense councel from e very onse} of the rc()mm"o‘b‘oe hed
re\a\ied ) Ap()e“m* et He a\\ej&l Vichim hod died and "T had
EMed him tﬂ“ So the Appe“lw” hod Sreo\' concern abowt the defenss
Counsels a\.i\;}\, to Com'ae'\'en“‘] and adezua\-ely refrejmf the
Aﬂw\\wﬂ'. (C')an; [ Pae" $rom WRPL).

At be hearn'mi n regards o Appellants MoTIon, which was held
o~ 17121 a review of the tecord will Shew thet all parbes seemed
}o be more focused on the circumstunces thol the Bppellonts
submiMed MOTToM wos pNPareJ 511 ancther inmale who hed Pf"’par'ej
NUMerous 'R“AQS of 4 Sene document 4o Several other inmoles

i
The dade Appoﬂan‘ was beoked inho the Clark Cau#\; Ten 1 Mjam‘&
4o an "TNFRRMATION" that wos Rled on 1|11 which allesed one Count
0" G“kmp‘\ecl ’RPSJ Jagm mura‘c.r. CP‘.

NOTToN FoR DISCRETFORNARY
REVIEW



and that a} leust Jour other cases wwere addrescing fhe new counsel
issue. JVRP 4-s, 7-3.

The Tria) Court allempted to discount the Appellands MoTZol
as preseding 1ssues thet didad hove any merit, suchas Appellants
asserdion thet o privale \nvestigator hadat been cppointed o
‘mueshgak Yhe A(nfoeﬂon“.'r case | when He Triol Court delermined
ot vne had been f-ﬂ:m‘:\w. But there was no evideace presented
on the record fo shew whelker the oppoinlmﬂ" of a private
nvestigalor was done elser prior to or afler Yhe Appellants
submiled MOTTON or whether te Appellant was aware that
Pr‘\\m\e '\t\ue’sﬁga"w ~hed been qpfofn'}-eo'. | VRP S5

The 'Jgfeme Courvel relayea/ during He }\ean\\7 the} there was an
issue i pegares fo eblaining diselasure of evideace and d'lsw»on’
$eom the Sta¥e and thaf the delense Counsel) hed Su&miﬂe«/ﬁ
"MoT3on To comeeL DIscoveny ) a couple of weeks prior and
that the disclosure of evidence and discovery was siwh‘..j o
occur . |VRP G-10 Thu} dhe defenre cownsel Wud " just got Some
d'\stouev\‘ ‘\m\a\( ()‘; bwl hed Y peviewed 1} 4o see whet 1} was.
(cﬂin%‘m pact from \VRP 10), The defeare counsel was also seekfr’y
to have puslic Fands Jo obtain o polygesph for He Appé”an} but
the obher AVEARES | the video ewo‘ef\ce, the D¥Aeuidence 'anJ
obher avenwes b mount o defense wrre necded priom +o He
appesved of  public funds br a polygreph . 1VRPIZ. That 4o thet
dule those aveames hadnt been reviewed or &x hawsled due
do the ot Yhat the euvidence and o.i'scouer-‘[ hodat bees disclosed.

MoTIon For DISCRETIONARY
REVTFW L‘



by the Stole and his had deloyed the defence counsels abiliy 4o
prepare $or a claim of self defense. | VRP lI-I12.

The Siade ' al {he ) 06 {he keqn'ay, was haw‘:\y an |SSue wifh
Ee'mg able 4o accesr some of the videos obtaincd $rom the Surveillonce
of the auw Vichms tesidence and presented the} Some Sort of
Computer frensics moy nead o oceur. | VRPG-10. A nofime
did the Shale e)tp)ofn wk,, auer a” ’&JS"‘ uf’& mm#ij‘ S 1nce
Appellanks arrest and Bur morth since the stark of the case
'H'!a" the Steole hao'n"‘ been a!,le 4o pmw’éa ﬂ'o. nefe&f’a(*y euiJmce
and dumuen{ 4o the delense counsel to commence s
pr’eror(,hon ‘k mount o defense again.r‘ The a"e_;ea/ C/laye.
That i} was on ly offer the defeare comnsels —Fﬂ/a; of Jhe
*MoTIoy To COmPEL DISCoVERY | Hhat the State commenced
‘H'\c disclosuce oﬁ evidence and J:‘uouery*/oﬂi a’ekf\fe (bw\re/
—n‘)U bem9 al ¢ Poin‘ 1A 'hﬁt, W)‘tﬂr\ the Affe'hn‘ hed .S“Olaih"‘
Ly Wy of MOTIo + obfar~ new cownsel due o Hre defense

Counsels Folure fo make substantial advences ipthe

\M\)eshjaﬁcm ard prepatation of a Jefense i1a ﬂpfeﬂan/"s
Case. VVRP )2.
The Triol Cauct deniod the Appellants MOTIoN by s t=ting -
‘ "1've heard o Seen no}“\;nﬁ ol oould 1ndicote
bas'ycc.\l‘] thet theres any basis for ‘“:e cloims
oard allegahons mede by LAppellant).
(c‘t{")na o Paﬂ- $eom \VRpB).

APPQ“QI\} arques $he} aHhouyL He Triol Court had a Co’q/.

MoTIon FoR DISCRET FoNARY
REVIEW ,



of Mppellants MoTToN Thal ab no Hime were the specifics of the
issues presented addressed 4o determine whether there (was any
valid issues presented to. appoint nNew Counsel. | YRPS.

The Teial Court wend on to rule?

L

I'm 3°M3+° dem’ tHhe mohon o remove Ldefence ounsell
(citing in part from 1VRP ).

The Teiol Court's denial was mm'nlr dve o the circumstances
thet if new apfdAkJ cousel were done that i} would mesn thil
the Case would have o Le staried From )45 initral pl'tafe.
See I1VRP 8-9. A/\J 'H‘\t Trial Court concern of Puy;{, eyfmfe.
Sce \VRP 5. The Triol Court urgeJ the Amoe“aa* do work
with Counse) , IVRP 1Y | bub af the Same time goanted
A Conbiauance o the defease counsel +o have addibonl
e o prepare a delense due 4o tre Stete’s Je\arinj A
prou“\d‘ma We ewdence and di‘J(overy- JVRP 1Y

On 3J8Jn, the Agpelant again asked for the appointmet
of new Counsel which was based vpon H\e Appc"w\" not
bewng setished with the defence counsels rep resentabon
and pmfaroﬂon of the Ap(e“at\{“'s defense. ‘VR?ZI' 23.

Duwe 4o the reguesh being dore just priseto the case
30;"3 o Yeial the Tr‘w\ Court denied the Ap'oe”cw"ﬁ
Pefqes\' ) &Ven 'Hfso»c.gl-s the ﬂppel\qn-i' was i acjreemenl'
to waive his speady terol r{ghh +o have the ap‘oo?n“meﬂ"
of new Counsel. |VRP 22

The Teial Court allowed dhe App(’“ar\} o exphin his

NOTIoN FoR DISCRETIaNARY
REVIEW



reasons wh\f he wanted new counsel and Appe\\ad Staled:
The §rst thing is that all he's 30} )s m\1+esﬁmon7
to defend me. He doesnt have mvihina" he
doesn¥ have any == any evidence Shqw3n9 the t
the facts werent such as the vicha. said
'Hﬂ?ti were . And the Second ﬂm'mi s thet he d’wayj
said tha} he was jo}ncj ) Se} me o Coun#ero%r,
ond that's the thing that T Ve a’Way_c Ke,o/' in mind.”
(eibing WRE 23).

The AW&“W‘} argues '“'\a} ‘FFOM a teview of the dia'og on
Pre cecord between the Trial Court, State, and defense Counsel,
ot the representohon by the defense counsel was deficient.
WRP 24- 27 The defense counsel Yailed to Know what the
Serkence range $r the alleged Crine of abempied 'fir.slo'ejwe |
murder would be ) S\'\ow'mci Yot the Appellant hodnd been
apprised of whob it would be- IVRP 25 .The defease comnsel
hod failed 4o apprise the Appellant Yot Hhe States pmfomcl
offer was twe on\tl one aVailable ) 9§ H’YL Appel-lan# was
prom\S&l Mot o Second offer would be pre_w\’eJ L\1 the
SYobe . VWWRP 23, 24-25,

The Teial Court deried dre Mppellents reguest dor neww comnsel.
1VRe 33,

The case proceeded o teiul on 312112 and on 3]1i2
the Teial Court ndicated Yot 1+ hod received a letler from
the Appe\\cm’( which raised i55ues of the defense counsels
perbhrmance . Y RP 54243

MOT Fodd FR DFSC RETFoWALY
REVSEW



Pursusrd o the case of State y. Lindsey, 3/) P3d6) (Wash App.

. 2 'lclb), Ve courd shaded:
"We review a teial courds rehual to eppoiat new
comnsel $ar an abuse of discretion. State v. Crosg
156 Wash.2d 580,607,132 £.3J 80 (2006). “There 15
an aLuu of o'fso‘e“an whea “’Q {eial courhy Jecf}im
) nwniﬁelw unreasowble or based upon untenalle
Srourw.l.s of reasos. Slak v, Brown, 1321un.2d 529,
£72,940 L2 546 (1997)."
The Cross court wenf on +o stle:
"Tn qs.s‘em'ny the teil courds decision | e Jook at
(D e exjet of the canflich between ﬂ{’hrm1 ond
chent, (D) the aJaiaaa/ of the ‘h‘inl courts iﬂlzu;ﬁy
1ndo $re Con“i'd-‘ and (3 He hmbiner «f Hhe
moton for a'o‘ne;fdmi— & new Comgel.”
Ceoss, 16 Wash 2d o 607, 132234 66 T e Pers. Reshreint
of Stenson, 142 WA.2J 10,723, /b P3J 1 (2so X cibng from Stale v.
Lindsey, 311 0.3 af 701 ).

IA e AP?gUa,\'H case Y Trra) Court o no tHime Spcdha.lhl
addressed Hre Tssue 1 beﬁords +o what the conF lych was between
tre deforse counsel and the Appellant during the 1arhal
Peiuesh Yoiled Yo address all Yhe issues which \were PP?JC\M
n Yhe MOTTor and when o\iscw.fin? the Stale’s de‘a\’ in itk
disclosure q‘ Qvidence and di.sco\rer~7 fonled 4o question the
Shole whet Yhed atieiburd 4o thet a‘c\a\’ ) 0§ W was one
OQ’ "t\t teasens '“\a" Cawnsed Appc“m" “'v s&.k New Com.rel.'

MOT Ty FoR DISCRET TRy
REVIEW

3



"To warrant subshbuhon of counsel , Ap{)e”c‘nl mus t
Skow 30.::1 cause 'Satk af A (‘onfh'c* of iAkreJ},
an itreconcilable conflick) or & complete

1 \ "‘
breakdown of Communication,

(cihingSom Shede v.Schellec) 193 tash.Aop. 255, 26768, 177 A7/
1139 (7001)); sec also Salk v.Sdenson, 132 Wash. tJ 45@73‘{, 940 P2
I239(I%7Yi'+ js mot enouyh that debendant has fosf Coréllenu’. or
tewst 1 his ca'H-ornex;).

The Appe"anl’ argunes thet e Trrcl Court fziled to conduct g
furbrer ing:uim? without Hhe praseculor present o exploce ineo
Fwrtrer detail Yre conflich with the defense counsel. Seo

Shtate v-Thompssn ) 290 F.34 996,169 L~ Bpp. 436 (Ldcsh fpp .
Div. 1 20)2) (ke tricd court held "ex Pa(‘“‘e heam‘m? with  prosecubor
abse~t % allow defordant and counsel to fvuj arheulale extert
oF *Wair Conflict and breckdown |n Corrmunicaf'l'm.") See ah‘a
Stole v Wither spuon, 286 P.3J 996,171 Wa. App. 27} Wlush. App Piv2
W1,

”TW. Sixth Aeendnert eight Y eflechre assishance
of Counnsel advarces te P Amendmarts N‘ng
a fair $eial. Thet P'fym o effechive assistance
iﬂ(\W’Cﬁ a "PeaSoMu@ ‘MUe.S”gaHan“ '01 deforse
CoW\Se\. "

See S¥ricklond v. Washisglon, H46 V5. 868, £9), 10 S.¢4. 2052, 8o LESY
614(1969)) Th re Pers. Restrudrd of Bredk, 142 Wash.2J 068,873, /6 £.3J
éo) (2oD)( citing Stule v Boyd, 18 .24 Y /60 Wn.2d H2Y (Wash 207))

MOTHR FoR DIICRETINALY
REVTEW



-Tn _g_’_y.aL H“Q Count 5%«"&13
”S“PP“"'H'“} e riaM o effechve P?PP?SQA;'GHOI\‘
CeRY.7( h)("\)’ prow‘c'cs thet not whstond ing pm)’ec‘b‘de
orders | the euideace must be disclosed * in et
Permu’ - va beneFicicl use. "
Boyd 1S8P3d af __ | /b0 Wn2d of ___ Sec also Statev.
Geenning, 234 P.3d /49, /69 Wn.2d 47 (Wash 20/9), Brudy v .
Mary\and 373 ULS. 83,87, 83 $¢4. 1194, /o L.Fd.2d 215 (J93).

T 4o Bppellants case | although Four months hod passed] here
was no Showing of wh, the deferte conasel he de/ayeJ n
Sﬁznnq pma'u‘\\\ar\ of the evidence and decouers, from the
S¥ate . This a'z\a\l hed hompchea’ the alefer\reCom:eI; oSi/i/}y
+o prepare o _chmre and was at a poink in Hn-e when the
Sho¥e also be cane aware tha} e Videos were unoble
be accessed and thal expert assishonce meay be needed.
See Scholler, 143 Wash App. o} 268,177 P.3J 1139.

The Bopellants AOTIow way 'h‘mek, and tre Appellant presents
het 1€ the qﬂo»‘n‘*m? of new counsel hod been gmnk«/ the Hhore
wouldat have beon am‘ hinderunces " e Presen‘aﬁon of the
Appellonts case lecause tre deferse cumsel hednt dome any due
o the Sl Fenlure o pmv\‘r)c.'\iwe\\, discloswres. That fhe deforve
counsel Sowght Rerther Bre due b0 He Stedel Jelw»l . That 0N
312 and 34/ Ave Appellant hod SHIV addressed Hhot he
was shW in conflict with the defense counsel and H{a(,))a‘h7
+ provide an adegude defense. Thet Jhis showed Jhat fhe

MOTTon FR -DISCRET TolaryY
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Conflic} with ¥re defense counrel was ongoing ﬂsrouyl. ouwt the
enfire process and ot fe Appelbml' hed [ost ConfFidence in
e defense councel and his a‘a‘)m\,‘k aJe?un’tlyN,ﬂN’ienJ'
tre Appellenh Se Unided Stader v. Nguyen 262 £3J 5%,
joo3 (ath Cfr. 1002); Brown . Cmveg,'-ll"l F2d 116¢, 170
(9%% €ir. 1970), Uniled States v. Moore, 1S9 F34 1154, JI58 (9
Cir. 1998) see alto Stulev. Dovgles, 29 P.3) 612,173 in. App 5%,
(Wash App Div.2 2013,

I~ Li‘ndsg;.}. sSupra, 'Hv. *rid\ Cour* had on H'v*ee SQ,Darak )\earingJ
addressed the defe~dants N,gues’ S new Counsel . At the First hearina,
Yre deferdat waived his claim | ab Hhe second hearing the deferdont
"did neb acficulale o specific basis $or withdrawel (3" and the third
keam‘mj Phe reasens for new counsel seemed change os $he Dae
for trial neaced; so Hre deidd court Found el Hhoy "were fleehing
ragues¥s nol based on a 'bn?i!ab Conflic}.” Q.‘.;.ﬂéfi‘f’ N Q?JA'._.,,
C’nh‘n? 0 par-*). Thad Hhe defendont "did not raise any Concerns
abovt a conflick Wik counsel during feial or afler H—cj\arj
teturned o guilly verdict, Ta Fack of his Senbencing he expressel
So¥is faction with counsel. ” { Lind 3N P3d ok chay 1n Par-)&

Tn conbrashis Mﬂ, Supra , where the deferdont in that case
"Was Mhi)"in? to give up Control of fhe cuse to an c‘Hcqu-"
(cikmf‘n part from Dowglas, 295 P34 oF | 173Wash. App oF _).
The .ée‘endm‘ 'mh_D_oga!gg " had alrecdy fired Mo atharneys for
Leins inefechive '“"’M"‘ the aHonnevk allesed effechueness
war limiked o o d)JaclmmeA" abont terpl s+ra§egy. ) Qgﬂ_’a_‘g,
295 R3d of 173 nsh App o} — ).
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TSSue Two: THE STATE CommITTED MTscouDULT AND
DENTED APPELLANT A FATR TRIAL WHEN DURTNG THE
STAIES CLOSTNG ARGUMENTS 2
.t State presenko‘ argumant that there was wo
euidence of Self-defense |
The Woshinglon Stude Suprere Court pursuent o He case of
Stedey. Lynch, 367 23 482,178 Wn.2d 487 (Uksh 2013, staked
" Taplictt in the Sixth Bredmet isthe crimincl
dele~donts right o control his Jeferse.” Farela v.
Californien ,422 US. 806,819, 95 SCH. 2525, 4S LKA 2D 562
(91" Ahagh ot staled in the LSixth] Awerdment in
S0 mary Words, the tight ... ko wmoke one’s own
defense P?J'Soﬂa“\’ L1 is ket nece;.rar'.ly ‘;a-,oh'eJ l»,
the steuchure of He Anendrent.) Sisde v- Jones,
99 Wash.2d 733,740, 464 P.2d 1216 (1983)( " Farelbar
embedios Hhre convichon thot a deferdant hos Hhe
right ho decide | within limids| the dyper of
defense he wishes ho mount S ") qushing Unifed
Stakes v Laum,éo’l Fud 52,56 (2 Cir. 1979). "
Secalso Stade y. Cacney, 314P.3d 736,74) (Wash App. Dio.) 2013 ).
Pursuant b Hhe case of Stulev.Sanchez ) 298 34 35),17) Wash.
App 518 (Wash Agp Du. 32010 the Couct held Jhat a cevminal deforbmt
en')\)\’: "dhe w’g” wder both the SixihBuerdnent totle Unided
States Conshihdion and arhicle I, sechon 22 of the k]ashinslvx
Conshuflon Yo cblain Witnesres ad present a defense.” Sea
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Stade v.Thomas, IS0 Loash.2d 821,857,883 P34 710 (200Y); Stute v.
Maupin | 128 Wash-2d 918,92425, 913 P.2J 8ok (1496); Stalte v. Hud lows
94 Lash-2d 1, 15-)6,65% R2d 514 (1963),

Prior 4o the cloSl‘Mj ar(,ume—&.s ) e Stule preseqted argument-
agains}t Hhe deferse counselS reguest dhat dhe fury be prourded with
insteuctions on selb-defense. V VRP622. The Trial Court in Peviewing
He circamstonces as presented by fle defense counsel, thet dhe
Appe\\an* " hed Sear " and was * concerned for his safeh,” because
Hwe\‘ were .Sx‘pn;»? wm= and - .- were having the hecded argument.
V VRP £22- 23(0%\13 i far%) Thet the a"eyeJ Vicham commenced Hhe
pulling out of He qua Slod and that the Appellant claired Jhet he
'wﬁod at He a“eged wdim yn on aHempt +o pull ‘Htgwx out of
e alleged vichas hand and Jhot the gun wenb off V VRP 623.
That He Appellant hod no direck memony if he pulled ke trigger.
V VRP 623,

Th St PNSP/\*&’ arc‘up-&‘/\"“ thet 4he Appe“fm*, in otder 4o
claim self defence accvm"m«y*oﬂ*e case law, would Y have 4o
adm¥ b havm? Cormmited 4he  cotmingl ack 4o S"op thi s ober
ac\"{_ﬂ and that his covainal adk wos i%hz‘lshoohm], no} +re
‘“"‘j"“i at him. " V VRP 624 (Ctbfvj in pack with allerchions). The
Stede weny on &0 stade =

" Thece are Cases where here’s accident. Tue

researched the cases where there 18 accident, and

ey saq that the deferdant gels the benefi} at

ever Yheary of the case. " (crbing v VAPELY)
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The Stale weatr on Yo present {hot the Appellant"never even
Suys tre qun was pointed o him." U VRPG2Y.(cihng in part).

The delence counse! preserted arqament that te Appellent s
tes %mom.l the priom doy " was enough o show o to give [Appellant]
the ubility o arjue selt-defense. VVRP625(cibing in part).

The defease counsel weaton to stale :

”M clieat has said from o'atf one.that he pu”d‘- when
e Toleged viehnd pulled e gua -, CAppellant] saw
1H3 L Aspellant] was scared; [Agellont] hod a moment fo
reack [Affe\\om}] lunged for the qun and they struggled,
T Appellont1 destifed \fesl»eg—da\’ he went down o the=-
as he ... =~ pulled back == ___the gun went of€, "
(bing Sram ¥ VRP 625-26) wiskin et ions)

Twe Triol Court veviewed the Stabes submithed case of Skate
V- Werner, 24} P.3d Uilo 1Mo (ya.2d 333 (l»b&h.Zolo))aMQ UpO~ Feviewiag
VP dedermined et due 4o the subjective Leljet based upon the
Rppellants view thet rere was “soee supporking evidence and
‘H\eaw, oloout H.,“ which e Tried Court did find thet there i5in
[ﬁppe\\a/\ys} case. V URP 628,63)'51- es‘?af'ivek, (Cih'ns ‘A P“"")~

Tre Teal Cowrt Qx9\afnec] that the Stzde Could arffvm.‘“\at He
»fppe\\M’r Yodny shown one OF the Prongs which 15 That ¥ {he
defend ant such Pocce b«, a5 O mans Qs a Teasensble Prw)enﬁ
persw C-l“ VVRP £3) (c»ﬁwj in wﬂ An) PmqueJ#Q e)@mf:k

'Hw\’re fouc feet Quacay ) P“"'“? the Hrigger at Jhut pornt
when You hed the gun and thet Fur cowoy | was not
Ceasorable force . They can arge thot prong-" VVRPE3I.

MoTFOA Fol DTS crETIoNARY
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Tre onln{ o\;}ec‘!’l‘on thot dre. Stete hed 4o the Trial Courks
%m\ ins}m¥ims wiay 'H-e o!efer\fc (‘ouq{dk l:e;n? a”owea’ ~l.a
preSenL YWe clavm of self-defence . V VRPE3S.

Tre Courtin dhe case of Sfule y Mc Creyen) 284 P3J7A3
70 Wa Ppp. Y44 (Wash App Div.Z 2013), stnked *

»A P('\‘Jsecuk?r 3€nera“47 Camm" comment on 'H'Q

lack of evidence because the defese hos wduﬁ,
4o presert eyidence . Whether e defense has
prese~ted evidence of selé-defense. Is guestibn
for He $eicd court to address whea decided whelber
'}0 inshruct ‘H’Qd\l"\f or e laws oF self-defFense.
Once P ¥ria) court has found evidene sufficient
b reguire a sel-defease instauction tht ;‘ngw‘ry)
even ) F erronesus; has eaded.”

AH}\O\\Q‘J}\ the Triah lourt allowed 4he defense Counsel 4o present
OP(/!AMQA“ '~ resards fo self-defense Hhe Appetant arywes that
the stk duri»’ ‘s ClOs'm? Arguments pre!en‘k’ck anyumem"ﬂv}
Hrece was no eurdence of Self-defease Lhich “Mr@kﬂm‘}erm}sﬁb
denied Hre defense comsels clhimed defence. Seo Stale u.
Werrer | Supre .

“Tre deSendonts r‘th'«'lo Conbral his defnse is nQGSSoty

" fuckher the fouth-secking aim of a ceiminal triol and

s ’-‘espec} yndividue) thni«’y ad au‘fpnoma’, '

Stake v. Corrsting, I7MWash.2d 370, 3%, 300 . 3J 400 ( 208D cihog From State
y.byach | 309 £.34 481,178 Ln.2d 487 (tush 2013,
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2. the Stale presented argument that misslated te law on
self defense |
Tre Appelluat arywes at He Stale further misstaled Hre Jaw when
the St dold Hhe _jury 1} did not nead o consrder self detense becuwe
Appe\\cm% claimed the Gua went of{ accfdvnc‘ally. That the Case law
ir well eshllishod that Sel -defense and acerdent are mot mutuoll,

exclusive. See Stole u. Werner, supren 3 Stadev. Gallahag , 87 Wa.
App. 925, 93)-33, 943 .2 676 (1997).

Pursusnt o the case of Stale y. Beadley, /O P-3d 358, /1 tin.2) 73)
(Wosh 200, the Court ruled Thot:

"I} has long been Hhe lows in Washirgton tho} self defense
Moybc _iuﬂ'»ﬁ{eé ‘oii Oppaf‘eM da«ger-‘o the person c'aima‘ny
the beneh} of the defense, as oppused + achel donger.”

Tre Court teferrel do the case of Smle v. Carler) ISwash.
1270123724, 45 . T4S(1896) , where Yhe court approved of a
teiad courds "self- defense instruction based on Gppatent da»ger."
See also Studey.LeFaber, 128 LJash id 894, §99-900,913 P.2J 369(1996).

Appellant argues Fhet since the defense counsel preseated thet
¥ was only afler ¥re a\\z’a} Vichin slowh, brought oul the gun

dht the Appe”on')' ”'\od'kw‘" and was “Concernred far his Saceh’u
Phet W} was self defense when the Appellant lunged for +he gun
and W+ atcio\‘cnk.‘\«., wend off. That de Skale hed 4e burden of

proving e absence of self-defease beyord a teasonable doubt.
See Mulev. Walden, 131 Wa.2d 449, 413-74 932 P2 1237 (1997),

MOTTON FoR DISCRET Ton ARY
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3. the Stale shifled e Lurden of proofin regan/s to the
Rppellant’s claim of self defense ;

Thre Apfd\an* atques that the defense comnsels Failure %o&:jecf
ollowed }e dwry povel Jo Lelieve that the Sdates presente] argument-
was in Suct correct and more fruthful becuuse all of te evidence
presented Faweced Hre Stadel version of what happened.. See Skile
_\_/__ﬁuhmh, No. 654S6-0-T |, 2012 WL 255856 oF ¥ Y (thshCh
Ap(z. Jon. 30, 2017). The Skade vouched for Hhe Cred‘ibiﬁ%’ of the a“eye«l
Vich, his feulhful ness, no}'juﬁ P reﬂards‘lb the circumstunces of
the cvidence , but also in vegards Yo whether 1+ was Vikely that the
q\\egea' Vichm ovined and pessessed o qun. See Mwl
P17 Wn.2d 438,258 .34 43 (Wash zat): Skude v. Tsh, IMotJash.2d 189,
193, 24) £.3) 389 (2910), See also Sy, Sargenk Y0 tash. App 390, 344,
69822 SB(MES). Due do the Stales arqument dhet the Shale was
telieoed of 113 burden oF prock and thet the defense counsel was
reguired do Show Some credible evidence to shao fhat Appellants
Shoohag of the alleged vichm was dore in self-defense , but this
conflicted with ke Affr"qnﬁ claim that W was eccidents), See

Stale v. Selks, 271 £33 952, 164 t/n App. 918Clash App Div.d 2019, Stale .

Jackson , 1S0LIush App 877,38, 209 P3d §53(20A), The Skt also
pNSener that the A,pe\\aﬂ— would Rave da admit o have commite)
'n‘& C(‘?M;ﬂa‘ C«L" 5@ :Jnod”m? H»Q anefeJ vich 'k! be ab[e "wo CIm‘m
self defense . V VRPE2YSee also Mc(eeven, suppa, Stntey.

O' Haew, 211 P3d 756,167 n2d 91 (Wash 20,

T McCreven | suptn, the court culed thab dhe prosecutors
omments on Hhe Jaw of $elf defense and defence oF others

MOTTon For D5 CRETIOIARY
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was erconeous- Male v. Thorgeeson | 1712 Wash 2J ot 467,258 R34
O}' qs-

"While a prosecabor "mag strike hard blows | he is not

at Vikerh) o strike foul ones. T+ 1s a5 much his Juhi

Y cefrain $rom i proper mebhods Calculated B Produ(e

6 weonghul convichion as it is to we every legibimale

means o being aboud o jush one.

(C'bh'wj $ram Berger v. United Skales, 295 us. 78,88, 55 5.¢1.624,
Y LEL. 1314 (193)),

Appe”qnl arg e Fhat ab no hame did Hhe delense counsel present
evidence o'um\wa ks C’QS)‘ng aryumen{:f ﬂu/» un Fm‘n’7 eltackeS The
Stades cage and Kept with Jhe £ as prermled b«/ He witnesesr aad
the evidence, but e dbte dwisted $re \0-w,d;$4or¥'e¢1 tre %«d*s,
ond denied Yhe defense counsel 13s opporhm}lvk mount a delease.
The SYi® commendsd He allesed Vichmor his teubhbdness and in
Seruing Wis Senkence . The Stale presented dhet dhe defence counsel
$orled Lo have oy medica) records o evidence that the Appeﬂanl‘ hed
an Wnjarg Fo s haed and hed ot Fealing in 1h. V VRPESZ. WA,
showed dehcient Perﬁsrmanca by the defense counrel . The Skale
aVso Inferred Yub d\e AN’Q“OA" hod pv\\eJ %ﬂ*n‘gger dum\»?“{
S*twﬁ\c for e Gun Lut the evrdonce pNSw\M showed thal He
A(Jpe\\ow" never did acknow\e«}?a Ahis. See V VRPEL3, 625-26
See edev. Pendeickson , 81 Wash App. 397,54 P2 1194 { 1996) {ishere

Fwos  held 4hat an exphcit Stulement of intent is not Necessary o
teceive a Self-deferse instruchvn and fad that o defendant does not
' recall the parha\or blow does not prerlwle the inferance that o

MoTIon FOR DISCRET 300 ARY
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Person indended o defend hersel ) cmn, State v. Dyson 352 P24 47
90 Wa. Ppp. 433 (Ldesh App Div. | 1991) See also Staky.Gogolin,Ys ubsh.
App. 640, 64344, 727R24 683 (1986)

The Appellant arynes thet the defense cownrels Forbure do ol ject 4o
the States improper c’osin? arguments was further @uidence fhet the
defease counsel was defricient in his represartahbn of Appellant.
See US. Canst onme~d. LT | XIV ; Wosh- Consh. art. T ,§22) see sl
St v. McFarlund, 127 Wash1d 322,335,899 P.24 125) (199); Stricklend,
Supra. The defense Counsels feilure o object s the Stnles remanks

which}) o Macked He defence counvelf al; Iihy o argue self defense, Jarguel
thet Hhe burden of proof shifted + Hhe defease counsel o present
eviderceof self-defense ,0nd D thot there neaded 4o Le imminent peri)
"*0\:2 aUe "-O poem»/r 6 c’m‘m af Se)f o’efmm dem‘aJ ”'ﬂ Aﬂﬂeﬁa,\fl
Hheouh his defense counvelj the constitutionsl right ko tount &
defense. Stotey. Strine , 293 R 3d 1177, 6 100,20 TH2(Wsh 2013 ; Yakus
v. Uniked Shubeg 32) US. Y14, yuu, 64 SCH- 660, 85 LFJ. 834 (1944).

Reversal iy Nfu\'reJ, r\o}wﬂksbmﬁng He bk of defenre counsels
objechon 1Five Stules misconduct was soflageudt and i)~
nkenbioned Yhat o Curative instruction could nof hove obuiake)
e FQSM\‘HN} PNJ\»JIG.- See Stule U,Gen'}rhh 125 Wn.2d S70,$‘/O,m
P.2d 1103, cerh. denied, 516 LS. 843 (1993), Stake u. Belgacde , 110 Wa. 2/
SoY,567,75s P2d Ny (1998); Stok w. Warren, 127 Wn2d 17,43, /95
P-3d 940 (2506)) Sea also Stk v Sublelt, 292 P2J 71576 Wn2d
S8 Wash 2012). The Courk 1a Skl v. RBeskurt ,293 P3J 159,

I7e Wn2d 441 (Wesh 2019, her o s ~fold inguiry ta delern ine
Wb ceview s a,pr\opria’re.
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PFirsh the court dedermines whether the claimed error js
*meh’ of conshtuhbrs) magnitude ,and Serond he Court
musk delermine whetker Jhe error is ‘pani fest.” "

T the Appellants case the Stades | proper faches presented to
e Y *hrauyﬂ closing ar7umcql:x impermm':bl7 prejuciced
e defense Counseli clained Jdelense ﬂ'\eheby denyin9 ﬂppe//m}
a Sair trial. See Tn re Pers. Restraink of Clags man, = tazd —
256 P.3d 673 (2012), Am1 Cureh v insh puction would ndv hawe curel
re ‘wanileg) " eeror . Seo Stale v. Puvell, 62 W Ppp. 914,920,
Bi6 L2486 (11)). The errom Cunndt be Consideréd harmless. See
Stale v. Ruseel), 125 Wash.2d 24,86, 682 P.2d 197¢1994); Stale v, Fiallo—
Lopez |13 Lash-Bpp. 117,729,859 P 2J 1299(1995),See also US. Consh
anedd. I XLV | Wash. Gonst. ark 1,872

F. CoNCLUSTon]
-D'\fs Nn(\or-a!,)e Cour* Skouu reverse and F"(’WAJ fll"l—

Aﬂo;\‘a/\'ﬁ' cuse ke e new drial,
Daled this ..Z.:.day of N\ay,%
VA < —
RE/YC/é PERET-MENDEZ
A‘ape)\anﬁ | Pro Se
Steflord (reek Gorrechions Genker

19) Constantine Wby H6 A
ASerJeen, wh 98510
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 43384-2
(Consolidated With

_ Nos. 43517-9-10, 43569-1-1I))

Respondent, :
UNPUBLISHED OPINION

v.
. REYCEL PEREZ-MARTINEZ,
Appellant.

BIORGEN, J. — A jury convicted Reycel Perez-Martinez of first degree‘assault for
shooting Eric Luna-Claro. Perez-Martihéz appeals, .alleging that (1) the trial court erred by
~ denying his motion to replace his appointed counsel,' (2) the prosecutor committed three different
types of misconduct, and (3) insufficient evidence supports his conviction. He also raises
numerous other issues in-two personal reéstraint petitions (PRPs) consolidated with his direct
appeal.

We reject Perez-Martinez’s direct appeal claims. The trial court’s decision to deny
Perez-Martinez’s motion for new counsel was not an abuse of its discretion, Perez-Martinez
waived two of his prosecutdrial misconduct claims and the third has no merit, and sufficient

evidence supports his conviction. Because Perez-Martinez does not present his PRP claims in a



No. 43384-2-1
(Cons. w/ Nos. 43517-9-11, 43569-1-1I)
way that allows us to review them in an informed manner, we decline to reach the merits of these -
claims. We affirm.
FACTS

Perez-Martinez and Luna-Claro were “best friend[s]” in Cuba before each separately
~ immigrated to this country. II Trial (Mar. 12,2012) at 136. After arriving in Washington, Luna-
Claro worked as a maintenance worker, but he supplemented his legitimate income by selling
illegal drugs, becoming a distributor for a drug cartel in 2010. After reconnecting with Luna-
Claro, Perez-Martinez began asking him for assistance in obtaining work in the drug trade.
Luna-Claro gave Perez-Martinez thé name and information of his contact in the cartel, which led
to a meeting between Perez-Martinez and members of the cartel and attempts to train Perez-
Martinez as a drﬁg courier. |

A few months after Luna-Claro introduced Perez-Martinez to his cartel contact, law
enforcement officials seized five kilograms of cocaine, valued at approximately $150,000, that
the cartel had sent bto Luna-Claro. . Unfortunately for Luna-Claro, the cartel considered him liable
for payment on the shipment regardless whether he received it. Luna-Claro managed to pay
some $30,000, but he could not pay the balance of the debt.

Not long after Luna-Claro’s difficulties with the cartel began, Perez-Martinez showed up
at his door with an associate.” At trial, Luna-Claro and Perez-Martinez presented starkly

different accounts of what transpired after Perez-Martinez entered Luna-Claro’s house.

! Perez-Martinez testified at trial that he did not know the man’s surname and knew him only as
“Arnaldo” despite travelling from Las Vegas to Vancouver with him. IV Trial (Mar. 14, 2012)
at 534-36. '



No. 43384-2-I1
(Cons. w/ Nos. 43517-9-11, 43569-1-II)

According to Luna-Claro, he, Perez-Martinez, and Perez-Martinez’s associate went into
his garage, where they began “talking about business, about drugs.” II Trial (Mar. 12, 2012) at
144;45 . Luna-Claro sat down in a chair, and Perez-Martinez, unexpectedly and without
provocation, pulled out a pistol and shot him in the abdomen from a distance of four or five feet.
‘While Luna-Claro lay on the ground, Perez-Martinez walked up to him aﬂd pulled the trigger to
shoot him again, but the gun did not fire. Perez-Martinéz-then kicked .Luna—Claro several times,
tunﬁng to leave when Luna-Claro’s wife came to the garage to investigate the shot and yelled for
him to get out. At trial, Luna-Claro opined that the cartel had sent his best friend to kill him
because of his unpaid debt.

According to Perez-Martinez, he atrived at Luna-Claro’s house to confront him about a
storage locker Luna-Claro had opened in his name, ostensibly so that Perez-Martinez would have
a local bill to establish residency in Washifgton. Perez-Martinez was upset about the locker
because he believed .Luna-Claro was using it for his drug trade. After Perez-Martinez entered
Luna-Claro’s house with his unknown associate, they all went to the garage where they
discussed the dispute. Luna-Claro became angry at Perez-Martinez, swore at him, and then
pulled a gun from his waistband “very slow[ly].” IV Trial (Mar. 14, 2012) at 553-54. Perez-
Martinez lunged at Luna-Claro, and the two struggled for thé gun, which discharged during the
struggle. Perez-Martinez, Who testified he was “in fear for [his] life,” later explained that nerve
damage in his hand might have caused him to fire the gun without knowing that he had pulled
the trigger. IV Trial (Mar. 14, 2012) at 555-56. After the shot, Luna-Claro asked Perez-
Martinez to take the gun and flee because the sound might draw a police response. Perez-

Martinez complied and later disposed of the gun off a local freeway.
3
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The State charged Perez-Martine with first degree attempted murder and first degree
assault, seeking enhanced penalties for each charge due to his use of a firearm.

Before trial, Perez-Martinez moved for new appointed counsel. When asked why he
wanted new counsel, Perez-Martinez stated that his attorney was “not doing a good job for” him,
that his attorney worked for the prosecutioh, and that his attoméy said that he had killed Luna-
Claro. I Motions (Déc. 12, 2011) at 5-7. The trial court explained to Perez-Martinez that his
attorney did not work for the prosecution and that, since the State had not charged him with
mﬁrder, he must have misheard or nﬁsun&erstood what his attorney had said. The court denied
the motion for new counsel.

‘When the court again considered the issue several months later, Perez-Martinez stated
that he wanted new counsel because his attorney had found no other witnesses to help defend
him and his attorney had misled him into believing the State would present .some kind of plea

‘deal. He then stated that he simply did net trust his attorney. The trial court noted that, given the
o facts the State had alleged, it seemed unlikely that Perez-Martinez’s attorney céuld find other
- witnesses, because he could not give the &ttorney the iﬁformation necessary to find Ammaldo.
Concerning the plea deal, the State informed the court that it had offered a plea, but that Perez-
Martinez had rejected it. Perez-Martinez then again refused the offer in open court. Finally, the
_court attempted to allow Perez-Martinez t0 speak in private with his attorney about the offer, but
Perez-Martinez refused, saying he would not speak with counsel. Again, the court declined to

appoint Perez-Martinez new counsel.
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At trial, the State presented Luna-Claro and witnesses whose testimony corroborated his
account. Police officers testified that their repeated searches of Luna-Claro’s house disclosed no
evidence that he possessed a gun. Officers also testified that searches of the garage disclosed
one spent and one live round. One officer testified that this evidence was consistent with Luna-
Claro’s story that Perez-Martinez attempted to shoot him twice, but that only one bullet fired.
Another officer testified that, based on the lack of gunshof residue on Luna-Claro’s clothes, he
was not shot at close range, as in a strugglé for control of a gun, but from a distance, as Luna-
Claro testified. Luna-Claro’s neighbors testified that Perez-Martinez approached the house and
left in different directions, suggesting a plan to avoid identification and capture.

Perez-Martinez testified in his own defense. Given Perez-Martinez’s testimony about his
fear for his life, the trial court determined it would instruct the jury on self-defense over the
State’s objections.

During closing arguments, the State argued that the evidence indicated that Perez-
Martinez had fabricated his self-defense story. It also challenged whether Perez-Martinez had
acted in self-defense, even if the jury accepted his version of events, claiming that Perez-
Martinez had stated that he accidentally shot Luna-Claro instead of shooting him in self-

defense.® Finally, the State told the jury that Luna-Claro had been “open” with them and had

2 The prosecutor’s argument stated in part:

You’re going to get a self-defense instruction the Court told you in your
jury instructions. The interesting thing about that is he’s never claimed that it was
self-defense. He said that what happened on that day was not that he--that the gun
was ever pointed at him, but that he lunged for the gun once he slowly saw it
coming out in the middle of an argument. He was never faced with imminent
danger. He was arguing with his friend, which he himself said is something you
can do.

5
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“told the truth” based on his admission of his criminal activities and the corroborating physical
evidence.. V Jury Trial & Sentencing Hearing (Mar. 15, 2012) at 689, 693.

“The jury found Perez-Martinez not guilty of attempted murder, but convicted him of first
degree assault with a firearm enhancement. Perez-Martinez timely appeals.

Perez-Martinez also pursued collateral poét-conviction relief. He filed two separate
motions in the trial court asking for, amonyg other things, a vacation of his conviction, arrest of
the judgment against him, a writ of habeas corpus, and a new trial. The superior court
transferred these motions to us for consideration as a timely PRP under CrR 7.8(c)(2). This
court’s commissioner consolidated Perez-Martinez’s PRPs, Nos. 43517-9-II and 43569-1-11I, with
his direct appeal.

ANALYSIS
L. DENIAL OF THE MOTION FOR NEW COUNSEL |
Perez-Martinez first argﬁes that the trial court erred by denying his motion for new
.'counse,l. He maintains that the trial court failed to give proper consideration to his claims of an
irreconcilable conflict with his attorney and denied his motion on improper grounds. Under
governing standards, the trial court properly denied the motion.
Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI;

WAaSH. CONST. art. I, § 22. The right to counsel secures the defendant a fair trial by ensuring a

He’s not claiming self-defense. He’s claiming it was an accident. He’s
claiming it was an accident because his hand has lost feeling.
V Jury Trial & Sentencing Hearing (Mar. 15, 2012) at 651-52. Perez-Martinez does not cite to
it, but the State repeated the argument that he was claiming an accident as opposed to self-
defense a few minutes later.
6
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functioning adversarial process, rather than a meaningful attorney-client relationship. Wheat v.
United States, 486 U.S. 153, 159, 108 S. Ct. 1692, 100 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1988). Therefore,
[t]o justify the appointment of new counsel, a defendant “must show good cause
to warrant substitution of counsel, such as a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable
conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the
defendant.”
State v. Varga, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004) (quoting Staté v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d
668, 734,940 P.2d 1239 (1997)). We review a trial court’s denial of a motion for the
appoihtment ofi new counsel for an abuse of discretion. Varga, 151 Wn.2d ét 200.
Perez-Martinez claims that hé had an irreconcilable conflict with his attorney, requiring
new counsel. To deterfnine whether this ¢onflict entitled Perez-Martinez to new counsel, we
~ examine three factors: the extent of the conflict, the adequacy of the trial court’s inquiry into the
conflict, and the timeliness of the motion to substitute counsel. In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson,
142 Wn.2d 710, 724, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) (citing United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158-61
(9th Cif. 1998)).
'A.  The Extent vanél Céuseé of the_ Conflict
We first consider “the extent and nature of the breakdown in the relationship and its
effect on the representation.” State v. Schaller, 143 Wn. App. 258, 270, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007).
With regard to the first part of thi§ inquiry, wé look at how difficult the defendant’s relationship
with his or her attorney had become and the causes of the conflict. Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 724-
31. New appointed counsel may be justified if the attomey-cliént relationship is markgd by such
things as “‘quarrels, bad language, threats, and counter threats’” because tﬁese suggest the

attorney cannot diligently represent his ot her client’s interests. Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 724 V
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(quoting United S?ate;v v. Williams, 594 F.3d 1258, 1260 (9th Cir. 1979)). HoWever, the origin of
the difficult relationship matters just as much as the conflict itself; a defendant must show the
breakdown exists because of “‘identifiable objective misconduct by the attorney.’” Sténson, 142
Wn.2d at 725 (quoting Frazer v. United States, 18 F.3d 778, 783 (9th Cir. 1994)). A defendant’s
“loss of confidence or trust” in his or her ¢counsel does not suffice to require the appointment of '
new counsel. Varga, 151 Wﬁ.Zd at 200. With regard to the second part of the inquiry into the
first Stenson factor, unless the defendant shows that the breakdown of the attorney-client
relationship resulted in “the complete denial of counsel,” he or she must show'prejudice to
“demonstrate that the trial court erred in deﬁying a motion for new counsei. Stenson, 142 Wﬁ.Zd
at 722.

The nature and extent of the claimed conflict does not rise to the level justifying the

appoiritmeni of new counsel. First, Perez-Martinez’s relationship with his attorney was never
- marked by the type of outright quarrels, threats of violence, or threats to render deficient ~ -

_ performance that indicate an attorney cannot represeﬁt the client in a diligent Thanner. See
Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 724-25. Perez-Msirtinez’s mistaken beliefs that his counsel worked for
the prosecutor and that his counsel had stated that he had killed Luna-Claro do not show
misconduc;,t by his attorney. Perez-Martinez’s other grievances with his attorney are the types of
loss of confidence or trust that do not justify the appointment of new counsel under the case law
above. While Perez-Martinez’s refusal to speak with his counsel in some instances does create
concern about a breakdown in the adversarial process, “[i]t is well settled that a defendant is not
entitled to demand a reassignment of cqunsel on the basis of a breakdown in communications

where he simply refuses to cooperate with his attorneys.” Schaller, 143 Wn. App. at 271.
8 .
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Second, thcleffect of any conflict on the representﬁtion Perez-Martinez received does not
justify new counsel. To determine if an irteconcilable cbnﬂict resulted in the complete denial of
counsel, we scrutinize the record and consider evaluaﬁons of the attorney’s performance by the
trial court and defendant. Stenson, 142 Wn.2d at 728-30. The record contains no evidence that
Perez-Martinez received “anything approaching inadequate representation” or tﬁat his “r_ight to
effective assistance of counsel was jeopardized by his continued representation” by his attorney.
Schaller, 143 Wn. App. at 270. Reflecting this, the trial court noted thét Perez-Martinez’s
attomey had done “a very good job at [Perez-Martinez’s] defense.” IV Trial (Mar. 14, 2012) at
545. Perez-Martinez himself echoed this assessment, stating, “I’ve seen really during this trial
fthat his attorney] has done a good job”; indeed, Perez-Martinez apologized to his attorney for
the aliegations he made in requestiné new counsel after agreeing that his attorney had
represented him well. IV Trial (Mar. 14, 2012) at 545. Because he fails to show that his
difficulties with his attorney affected his tépresentation at trial, Perez-Martinez must show
prejudice to prevail on this factor, and he does not ev_em‘nake. an argument in this regard.

The first Stenson factor therefore weighs in favor of affirming the trial court’s denial of
Perez-Martinez’s motion. Perez-Martinez fails to show a conflict aﬁsing from grounds we
accept as bases for appointing new counsel and the represenfation he received rebuts any
concerns that the adversarial process guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment’s right to counsel
broke down.

B.  The Trial Court’s Inquiry

We next look to the adequacy of the trial court’s inquiries about the conflict. Perez-

Martinez claims that the trial court erred under this prong by failing to question him “‘privately
9
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and in depth.”” Br. of Appellant at 15 (quoting United States.v. Nguyen, 262 F.3d 998, 1004 (9th
Cir. 2001). In suppoft, Perez-Martinez cites several Ninth Circuit cases that hold that the trial
court must indeed privately question a defendant and ask “‘specific and targeted questions’” to
determine whether new counsel is warranted. Br. of Appellant at 15 ((quoting United States v.
Adelzo-Gonzalez, 268 F.3d 772, 777-78 (9th Cir. 2001)).

While decisions from the federal circuit courts can provide persuasive authority
concerning federal questions, they “are not binding upon the Washington Supreme Court or this
court.” Feis v. King County Sheriff’s Dep’t, 165 Wn. App. 525, 547, 267 P.3d 1022 (2011). We
are instead bound by deciéions from the Washington Supreme Court and the United States |
Supreme Court interpreting the federal constitution. Perez-Martinez cites no United States
Supreme Court opinion requiring that the trial court'inquireA privately about a defendant’s conflict
with his or her attorney. Opinidns of our state Supreme Court hold that the trial court makes an
adequate inquiry into “the men't.s of [the defendant’s] complaint” by affording the defendant “the
opportunity to explain the reason(s] for [his or her] dissatisfaction with counsel” and:questioning
counsel about the “merits of [the] complaint.” Varga, 151 Wn.2d at 200-01 (affirming the denial
of a motion for new counsel where tfle trial court inquired about the conflict in the presence of
the defendant and his attorney); Stensori, 142 Wn.2d at 726-30 (same). Here, the trial court
offered Perez-Martinez two separate oppértunities to explain why he wanted new counsel, and
cngaged in lengthy discussions about the merits of his requests. The trial court also explored the
issue with his counsel during those same two hearings. The trial court conducted an adequate

inquiry.

10
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C. | Timeliness

Finally, we examine the timeliness of the motion for substituting counsel. Perez-
Martinez makes two arguments oﬁ this point. First, he alleges that he made a timely motion that
the trial court rejected over impermissible ¢concerns about its trial schedule. He cites Nyugén,
which held that even a motion for substituting counsel made the day of trial was timely where
denied for impermissible reasons. 262 F.3d at 1003. However, the trial court’s consideration of
the delay involved with the appointment 6f new counsel did not reyolve around a desire to keep
to its own trial schedule. Instead, its consideration of the delay focused on its attempt to honor
all of Perez-Martinez’s Sixth Amendment rights, including his right to a speedy trial.

Second, Perez-Martinez argues the trial court made inconsistent rulings because, after
denying his motion for new counsel, it alltowed his attorney a continuance to prepare. Again,
while the federal cases Perez-Martinez cités provide persuasive authority, we are bound by our
Supreme Court’s decisions. Our Supreme Court has held that the delay resulting from the

. substitution of counsel can weigh against the defendant in consideration of the third Stenson.
factor. 142 Wn.2d at 732. Here, the trial court noted that the time necessary to allow a new
attorney to familiarize himself or herself with the case would have been extensive and reached
long past any continuance it would grant his current attorney. This delay shows Perez-
Martinez’s motion to be untimely under the third Stenson factor. 142 Wn.2d at 732.

We hold that the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying Perez-Martinez’s

motion for the substitution of new counsel. Each of the factors we use to review the trial court’s
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decision indicates the trial court properly denied the motion. We cannot say that the trial court
made a decision that “no reasonable persoft would take” or one based on “‘untenable grounds’”
or “‘untenable reasons.”” State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607, 623, 290 P.3d 942 (2012) (quoting
State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003)).
II. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Perez-Martinez next alleges that the prosecutor committed three different types of
misconduct. First, he claims that the prosecutor’s closing arguments misstated the law and
burden of proof regarding self-defense. Second, Perez-Martinez contends that the prosecutor’s
closing argument impermissibly vouched for ‘Luna—Claro’s credibility. Finally, Perez-Martinez
maintains that the prosecutor violated her duty to prevent the vadmission of false testimony and
her duty to correct any false testimony in the record. We hold that Perez-Martinez waived his
first two claims and failed to make the necessary showiﬁgs on his third.

Because prosecutors “represent[] the people” as “quasi-judicial officers” they owe a
“duty to subdue their courtroom zeal for the sake of fairness to a criminal defendant.”. Staze v.
Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 746, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). A defendant claiming that a prosecutor has
violated this duty bears the burden of showing that “the prosecuting attorney’s conduct was both
improper and prejudicial.” Fisher, 165 Wh.2d at 747. Demonstrating prejudice requires the
defendant to show that the improper conduct had a “substantial likelihood of affecting the jury’s
verdiét.” State v. Emery, 174'Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). When, as here, the
defendant fails to object at trial to the challenged conduct, he or she waives the misconduct
claiIﬁ unlesé the argument wﬁs “flagrant and ill[-]intentioned” such that “‘no curative instruction

would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury.”” Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61 (quoting
12
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State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)). In evaluating possilSle waiver
under this standard, we focus our analysis on the trial court’s ability to remedy the impropriety,
rather than whether it was flagrant and ill-intentioned. 'Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762.
A, Closing Argument oﬁ Self-Defense
Perez-Martinez alleges two tybes of misconduct in the prosecutor’s closing argument
about his self-defense claim. First, Perez-Martinez argues that fhe prosecutor impermissibly
shifted the burden of proving self-defense to him by stating that he never testified that Luna-
Claro pointed the gun at him, meaning that he never faced imminent danger. Second, Perez-
Martinez claims that the prosecutor’s.clo'sing argument incorrectly stated that a self-defense
‘claim was mutually exclusive with a defense of accident, "‘eas[ing] the State’s burden” of
disproving self-defense. Br. of Appellant at 22. To support this argument he cites the
prosecutor’s statement that “[h]e’s not claiming self-defense. He’s claiming it was an ac;:ident.
He’s ciaiming it was an accideﬁt because his hand has lost feeling.” V Jury Trial & Sentencing
Hearing (Mar. 15, 2012) at 651-52.. We find no.impropriety in the first of these arguments and,
although we find the second argument improper, we affirm Perez—Martinéz’s conviction as he
waived his claim of error by failing to object.
1. Impropriety
We begin with the threshold question of whether the prosecutor made impropef
comments. For this inquiry, wé}examine the remarks in “the context of the prosecutor’s entire
argument, the issues in the case, the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury

instructions.” State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003).
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Perez-Martinez first alleges that the prosécﬁtor shifted the burden of proof to him by
arguing that “there was no evidence of self-defense.” Br. of Appellant at 20. He analogizes his.
case to State v. McC;even and contends that our opihion there makes this argument improper.
See 170 Wn. App. 444, 284 P.3d 793 (2012), review denied, '176 Wn.2d 1015, 297 P.3d 708
(2013). In McCreven, the prosecutor argued that the defendants had to prove self-defense by a
preponderancé of the evidence before the State had any duty to disprove self-defense beyond a
reasonable doubt. 170 Wn. App. at 468-71. McCreven, however, offers no support to Perez-
Martinez. The prosecutor here did not suggest that Perez-Martinez had a duty to prove self-
defense or that the State did not bear the burden of disprovihg self-defense beyond a reasonable
doubt until he did so. Instead, the prosecutor attacked the fit of the evidence in the record with
Perez-Martinez’s theory of self-defense it order to shoulder the State’s burden of disproving
self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. A prosecutor may permissibly argue that the evidence
does not support the defense’s theory of events. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d
. 747 (1994); State v.. Graham, 59 Wn. App-. 418, 429, 798 P.2d 314 (1990); State v. Contreras, 57.
Wn. App. 471, 476, 7'88 P.2d 1114 (1990). There was no impropriety with this argument.

Perez-Martinez also zﬁleges that the prosecutor improperly told the jury to disregard his
claims of sélf—defense when she told them “[h]e’s not claiming self-defense. He’s claiming it
was an 'accident._’-’ V Jury Trial & Sentencing Ht;aring (Mar. 15, 2012) at 651-52. At trial, Perez-
Martinez claimed that the shooting of Lunia-Claro, though an accident, resulted from his-use of
force to defend bimself from Luﬁa-Claro. Under facts like these, self-defense is not mutually
exclusive with accident. Stare v. Callahar, 87 Wn. App. 925, 930-33, 943 P.2d 676 (1997).

While the prosécutor certainly could argue that the facts did not fit with a claim of self-defense,
14
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she did more than thaf here. Even in the context of an argument concerned with disproving self-
defense beyond a reasonable doubt, at best the prosecutor’s argument misstated the law of self-
defense and, at worst, invited the jury to disregard the trial court’s iﬁstructions on self-defense.
Viewed either way, the argument was improper. State v. Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. 543, 594-96, 208
P.3d 1136 (2009) (a prosecutor makes an itproper argument by misstating the law of self-
defense in a way suggesting that defendast cannot avail himself or herself of the defense because
of the misstatement); State v. Cardus, 86 Hawaii 426, 433, 439, 949 P.2d 1047 (Haw. Ct. App.
. 1997) (prosecutor makes improper argument by “urg[ing] the jury to, in .effect, ignore the jury
instructions™). |
2. Waiver
We next turn to whether Perez-Mattinez is entitled tb relief for the prosecutor’s improper
argument about accident and self-defense. As noted, Perez;MaItinez failed to object at trial. To
~ obtain relief he must show both a substantial likelihood that the argument affected the jury’s
_verdict and that the argument was flagrant and ill-intentioned such that the court could not have = .
addressed the argument’s impropriety with a curative instruction. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762.
Because a curative instruction would have eliminated any prejudicial effect created by the
improper argument, we hold Perez-MaItin'ez waived his claim of error.

Perez-Martinez argues that he did not waive his claim because the prosecutor’s argument
was flagrant and ill-intentioned because it disregarded the trial court’s decision that Perez-
Martinez had introduced sufficient evidence to require a self-defense instruction. Perez-Martinez
contends that the argument “presented the jﬁry with a distorted view of its function” that a

curative instruction would not have rectified. Br. of Appellant at 23. The Supreme Court has,
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however, several times in recent years rejected arguments similar to the one Perez-Martinez
makes and held that, even where a prosecutor’s argument undermines the State’s burden of
proof, the trial court may cure the impropriéty with an instruction that educates the jury on its
role and the State’s burden of proof. Em-é:‘y, 174 Wn.2d at 764; State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17,
26-28, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). We have held thaf a curative iﬁstxiucﬁon can eliminate any
prejudicial effect arising from a prosecutor’s misstatement of the law of self-defense. Asaeli,
150 Wn. App. at 595-96. Had Perez-Martinez objected, the trial court could have explained to
the jilry that it needed to both consider Perez-Martinez’s self-defense theory despite the
prosecutor’s statements and hold the State to its burden of disproving self-defense beyond a
reasonable doubt. See Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 764. We presume that jurors follow thesé
instructions. State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661-62, 790 P.2d 610 (1990).

Perez-Martinez also argues that, because the improper argument concerned the “heart of
the defense case,” no curative instruction could havé obviated the prejudicial effects of the
. argument, citing State v. Powéll, 62 Wn. App. 914, 919, 816 P.2d 86 (1991)._Br. of Appellant at
23. In Powell, the prosecutor argued that a failure to convict would send a message inviting the
sexual abuse of children, an argument feeding on the jury’s desire to protect children énd its
revulsion at child-molestation. 62 Wn. App. at 918 & n.4. The Powell court found this flagrant
and ill-intentioned and determined that the argument denied Powell a fair trial because, in the
context of the argument, a curative instruction could not have eliminated the prejudice it caused.
62 Wn. App. at 918-19. We may readily ﬂistinguish the argument made in Powell from the one

made in Perez-Martinez’s case: the prosecutor’s argument here concerned how the jury should
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evaluate the evidencé, not an appeal to its passions or prejudices. The prosecutor’s argument
was simply not the type that a curative instruction cannot rectify.

B. Vouching |

Perez—Martinei also contends that the prosecutor impermissibly vouched for Luna-Claro
during closing érgument by personally attesting to his credibility and referencing mafters outside
the record. We hold that the prosecutor improperly vouched ‘for Luna-Claro, but that Perez-
Martinez waived any claim of error.

1. Impropriety

A prosecutor acts improperly if he or she vouches for the credibility of a witness by
stating a personal belief in the veracity of a witness or referencing matters outside the record to
bolster the witness’s credibility. State v. fsh, 170 Wn.2d 189, 196, 206_, 208, 241 P.3d 389
(2010) (Chambers, J. lead opinion) (Sanders, J. concurring and dissenting). Vouching
improperly puts the prestige of the prosecutor’s office behind the witness’s tes'timony and
. violates a prosecutor’s “special obligation to.avoid ‘improper suggestions, insinuations, and
especially assertions of personal knowledge.”” United States v. Roberts, 618 F.2d 530, 533 (9th
| Cir. 1980) (quoting Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55- S. Ct. 629,79 L. Ed. 1314
(1935)).

Perez-Martinez alleges the first type of vouching occurred here when the prosecutor
informed the jury that Luna-Claro had been open and honest with them. We give prosecutors
“wide latitude iﬁ closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence and to
exi)ress such inferences to the jury.” Stenson, 132 Wn.2d at 727. However, the prosecutor may

not implicitly or explicitly express a personal belief about the veracity of a witness. State v.
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Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 143-48, 684 P.2d 699 (1984).‘ The prosecutor’s statements that Luna-
Claro had been honest with the jury was an implicit expression of the prosecutor’s personal
belief in Luna-Claro’s credibility and theréfore improper. ‘See Reed, 102 Wn.2d at 145-46.

Perez-Martinez also argues that thé second type of vouching occurred because the
prosecutor’s closing argument “[wa]s riddled with prejudicial statements of ‘fact’ that are not in
evidence.” Appellant’s Statement of Additional Groundé (SAG) at 18. Perez-Martinez fails to
identify a single one of these multiple references to matters outside the record. While we do not
require a defendant to cite to the record for arguments made in a statement of additional' grounds
made under RAP 10.10, We do require that the arguments be sufficiently “specific for us to
identify any error in the record.” State v: Kipp, 171 Wn. App. 14, 35, 286 P.3d 68 (2012), rev’d
by State v. Kipp, No. 88083-2, ___P.3d ___, 2014 WL 465635 (Wash. Feb. 6, 2014); RAP
10.10(c). Perez-Martinez’s argument provides no basis to even begin looking for any alleged
instances df. the second type of vouching, and we decline to address the merits of thi_s argument.

2. Waiver

Again, Perez-Martinez did not object at trial to the vouching he now objects to. Had
Perez-Martinez objected, the trial court could have informed the jury that it alone éould measure
the credibility of witnesses. The trial court also could have explained that the prosecutor’s
statements about Luna-Claro’s credibility'weret argu'mentﬁ that it could not consider as evidence.
We presume that jurors follow these instructions and have no reason to disregard that
presumption here. Swan, 114 Wn.2d at 661-62. Because the court could have addressed the
argument’s impropriety with a curative instruction, Perez-Martinez’s failure to object waivés this

claim of error. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762.
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C. Countenancing False Testimony

Perez-Martinez next alleges that the prosecutor committed misconduct by uéing |
testimony known to be false in order to cofivict him. Perez-Martinez points to what he claims
are several inconsistencies between Luna-Claro’s statements to the police and his testimony at }
trial and argues that the proseéutor’s failure to ask Luna-Claro about the inconsistencies
constituted misconduct.

The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution
imposes on prosecutors a duty not to introduce perjured testimony or usé evidence known to be
false to convict a defendant. State v. Finnegan, 6 Wn. App. 612, 616, 495 P.2d 674 (1972)
(citing Alcorta v. Texas, 355 U.S. 28, 78 8. Ct. 103, 2 L. Ed. 2d 9 (1957)). This duty requires the
prosecutor to correct state witnesses who testify falsely. Finnegan, 6 Wn. App. at 616 (citing
Napue v. lllinois, 360 U.S. 264, 79 S. Ct. 1173, 3 L. Ed. 2d 1217 (1959)). To succeed on his
cl_aim— that the pfosecutor used false evidence to convict him, Perez-Martinez must show that “(1)

_the testimony [or evidence] was actually false, (2) the prosecutor knew or should have known
that the testimony was actually false, and (3) that the fal;e testimony was material.” United
States v. Zuno-Arce, 339 F.3d 886, 889 (9th Cir. 2003). We must deny Perez-Martinez relief
based on this claim, because he fails to make the necessary showing for the first two of these
elements.

First, Perez-Martinez offers no ev‘ideﬁce to demonstrate the falsity of Luna-Claro’s
testimony at trial other than his own versien of events, which contradicts Luna-Claro’s.
However, “[i]ndisputable falsehood is not established by a simple swearing contest.”

Rosencrantz v.-Lafler, 568 F.3d 577, 585-86. (6th Cir. 2009). Where the jury hears from
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witnesses and determines to credit one, but not the other, we may not oveﬁum that
determination. See Rosencrantz, 568 F.3d at 586 (6th Cir. 2009) (quoting United States v.
Bortnovsky, 879 F.2d 30, 33 (2d Cir. 1989)). The jury heard from Luna-Claro and from Perez-
Martinez, and it accepted Luna-Claro’s vetsion of events. We must defer to this deteﬁnination.
See, e.g., State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).

Second, even if we were to assume that Luna-Claro testified falsely, Perez-Martinez
offers no evidence that suggests the prosecﬁtor knew or should have known that the testimony
was false. The evidence recovered at the scene corroborated Luna-Claro’s account and the
prosecutor would have had no reason to doubt his version of events.

IIl. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Perez-Martinez next aéserts that the State did not present sufficient evidence to disprove
his claim of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. We disagree. |

The Fourteenth Amendment’s duge process clause requires that the State prove every
element of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Statg v. O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 105 »217P.3d
756 (2009). We review challenges to the sufficiency of the State’s evideﬂce by examining
“‘whether, after viewing the evidence most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could
havg found the eséential elements of [the cﬁme] beyond a reason_able doubt.”” State v. Green, 94
Wn.2d 216, 221-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) {quoting Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.
Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1980)), over-ruled on'other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco, 548
U.S. 212, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006). A defendant challenging the sufficiency of
the evidence used to convict him or her must “admit[] the truth of the State’s evidence and all

inferences that reasonably can be drawn from that evidence.” State v. Caton, 174 Wn.2d 239,
20



No. 43384-2-11

(Cons. w/ Nos. 43517-9-11, 43569-1-11)

241, 273 P.3d 980 (2012) (per curium). As noted above, we defer to the trier of fact’s resolution
of conflicting testimony, evaluation of witness credibility, and decisions regarding the
persuasiveness of the evidence. Camarillo, .1 15 Wn.2d at 71.

Perez-Martinez’s challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence underlying the first degree
assault conviction asks us to reweigh the evidence against him. Specifically, he asks us to
determine that he did not bring a gun to Luna-Claro’s house and that Luna-Claro was not
credible. Our constitutionally mandated respect for the jury as a finder of fact prevents us from
doing what Perez-Martinez asks. See Green, 94 Wn.2d at 221. Luna-Claro’s testimony, which
Perez-Martinez must accept as true for purposes of his sufficiency challenge, shows that Perez-
Martinez shot Luna-Claro while Luna-Claro sat in a chair posing no threat to him. This
evidence, in and of itself, not only Satisﬁed the State’s burden of proof for first degree assault,
but also satisfied the State’s burden of proving Perez-Martinez did not act in self-defense. See
State v. Flett, 98 Wn. App. 799, 805, 992 15.2d 1028 (2000) (witness testimony that they did not
threaten their attacker sufficient for a first degree assault conviction when defendant suggested
that he shot at them in self-defense). Significantly, the State’s other witnesses testified that
physical evidence found at the scene cortoborated Luna-Claro’s account. Sufficient evidence
supports Perez-Martinez’s qonviction.

IV. PEREZ-MARTINEZ’S PRP CLAIMS

Finally, Perez-Martinez raises numerous issues in his two consolidated PRPs. These
include violations of the disclosure duties found in Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct.
1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963); various specie§ of ineffective assistance of counsel claims; a

violation of his right to confront witnessés against him; claims of instructional error; claims that
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he did nét receive proper interpretation; ¢laims of errors in denying his motions to suppress;
violations of his fair trial rights; claims of evidentiary errors; and claims of due process
violations due to insufficient evidence sustaining his conviction. Motioﬁ to Merge Counts and
Vacate Conviction and Relief of Confinernient, No. 11-1-01115-1 (Wash. Super. Ct. May 21,
2012); Affidavit in Support for Relief from Confinement, Vacate Conviction for Order, No. 11-
1-01115-1 (Wash. Super. Ct. May 21, 2012); Affidavit in Support of Judgment of Arrest, No. 11-
1-01115-1 (Wash. Super. Ct. May 22, 2012); Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, No. 11-1-0115-
1 (Wash. Super. Ct. May 22, 2012); AfﬁdaVit in Support for New Trial, No. 11-1-0115-1 (Wash.
Super. Ct. May 21, 2012).

Perez-Martinez presents his claims in a manner leaving us unable to review them. While
we may show some solicitousness to pro $¢ litigants filing PRPs, we do require, at a minimum,
that they provide thev“facts [or] evidence” necessary to decide the isgues they raise so that we
“make an informed reﬁew.” Inre Per?v’. Restraint of Cook, 114 Wn.2d 802, 813-14, 792 P.2d
506.(1990). Failure to do so requires us to decline to reach the merits of their claims.. Cook, 114
Wn.2d at 814. While Perez-Martinez offers numerous affidavits in support of his various claims,
v‘ these affidavits offer only “[b]ald assertiotis and conclusory allegations.” See In re Pers.
Restraint of Rice, 118 Wn.2d 876, 886, 828 P.2d 1086 (1992). Perez-Martinez does not identify
a single point in his trial where an alleged error occurred, and he provides no evidence that
would allow us to determine that the effect of any alleged error was prejudicial. Under Cook and

Rice, we decline to reach the merits of hi$ ¢laims.
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CONCLUSION

We rule against Perez-Martinez’s direct appeal claﬁns and affirm his conviction.
Because Perez-Martinez fails to make his PRP claims in a manner that we can review, we cannot
reach their merits.

A majority of tI;e panel having détermined that this opinion will not be printed in the
‘Washington Appellafe Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW

2.06.040, it is so ordered.
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: " BIGRGEN, /
We concur: ' ) : /ﬁ
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